1982

# Wayne M. Patterson v. Alpine City : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

Respondent, Wayne M. Patterson, initiated this action seeking a declaratory judgment that assessment by Appellant, Alpine City, of its applicable sewer connection fee was void, unenforceable and unconstitutional. Respondent contended that the sewer connection fee had not been legally established by adoption of an appropriate ordinance or resolution by Appellant. Respondent also contended that the Appellant acted beyond its statutory authority in establishing the amount of the sewer connection fee. Respondent prayed for a permanent injunction enjoining Appellant from assessing the sewer connection fee and also sought restitution of the fee paid by Respondent to Appellant.

Respondent filed a Motion for Summary Judgment which the Trial Court granted in part and denied in part. The written

ruling by the Trial Court, dated April 16, 1981, states in part:

1. As applied to this plaintiff the sewer connection fee of \$1,500.00 was illegally assessed for the reason that sewer connection fees to be charged were not established by written resolution or ordinance as required by law. It is also the Court's opinion that regardless of the practicality and effectiveness of defendant's sewer finance plan it is not within the City's statutory authority.

The Trial Court further ruled that Respondent was not entitled as a matter of law to a refund of the full \$1,500.00 connection fee. The Trial Court did not rule that the sewer system finance plan of Appellant violated the equal protection clauses of the Constitution of the State of Utah of the United States Constitution.

A Partial Summary Judgment reflecting the ruling was entered by the Trial Court on May 29, 1981.

The Trial Court in September, 1981, pursuant to a stipulation of the parties dismissed Respondent's claim for restitution and entered judgment permitting Respondent to retain the sewer connection right and permitting Appellant to retain the sewer connection fee paid by Respondent to Appellant.

#### DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The District Court entered Summary Judgment in favor of Respondent on the 29th day of May, 1981, holding, among other things, that the Appellant acted outside of its statutory authority with respect to the manner in which sewer connections were sold and sewer connection fees established.

#### RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The Supreme Court should reverse the Summary Judgment entered below on the issue of whether or not Appellant exceeded



its authority in establishing sewer connection fees or selling sewer connection permits, or in the alternative order the District Court to proceed to conduct a trial on that issue. The Court should further find and rule that Respondent was not entitled to Summary Judgment as a matter of law.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

In 1976, the Alpine City Council and Mayor authorized preliminary studies for the design, construction and financing of a wastewater collection system to serve the inhabitants of Alpine City. Alpine City, together with the cities of American Fork, Lehi, and Pleasant Grove, assisted in establishing the Timpanogos Special Service District to provide for construction of a regional wastewater treatment facility serving the four cities.

Prior to construction of the Alpine City wastewater collection system, the Appellant investigated thoroughly the cost of such system and available funding. Eventually, the Appellant was able to obtain a portion of the funding from Farmer's Home Administration and the Environmental Protection Agency. Money borrowed was to be repaid from the proceeds from the sale of bonds. The remaining portion of the cost of the system was approximately \$875,000.00. Based upon an engineering study, the projected number of sewer connections was 540. No wastewater collection facility serviced any part of Alpine City prior to construction of this project. The amount to be charged per connection to pay Appellant's share of the initial cost of design and construction was approximately \$1,620.50 per connection.

Later, in early 1977, the Appellant obtained a grant from Farmer's Home Administration in the sum of \$499,400.00, which then left the remaining amount to be paid by Appellant, aside from grants and loans, of \$375,000.00. Appellant then revised the amount of the initial connection fee to \$700.00. The sum of \$375,000.00 was required to be collected, in full, and on deposit prior to final approval by federal agencies of the grant and loans to fund the project.

The actual value of a sewer connection fee was greater than \$700.00. The federal grants, in effect, subsidized the project and allowed the initial connection fee to be set at \$700.00. This served to benefit all present and future residents of Alpine because without the \$375,000.00 generated from the sale of connection fees, the system could not have been funded or built when it was.

The City Council then determined to raise the amount of the connection fees in two increments. First, it was proposed to raise the fee to \$1,000.00 and then \$1,500.00. This plan was approved by the Alpine City Council, the Mountainlands Association of Governments, the Utah County Council of Governments, the Utah County Planning Commission, the State of Utah Clearing House, the State of Utah Planning Coordinator, the State of Utah Division of Health, the Environmental Protection Agency, and the Farmer's Home Administration.

The City Council then advertised the proposal and conducted public hearings. Subsequently, the plan was adopted in a regular, open City Council meeting. To induce purchase of the

required number of sewer connections, the initial fee was set at \$700.00 and any person could purchase connections.

The public was advised that the fees would be increased to \$1,000.00 and later to \$1,500.00.

The plaintiff attended the public hearings and knew of the proposed increases.

Increases were required to enable the City to repay its bonded indebtedness on the project and its share of the bonded indebtedness of the Timpanogos Special Service District, the regional agency providing sewage treatment facilities.

#### ISSUES

WHETHER OR NOT APPELLANT, ALPINE CITY, ACTED WITHIN ITS AUTHORITY BY: (1) PRE-SELLING SEWER CONNECTIONS TO OBTAIN REQUIRED FUNDS TO CONSTRUCT A MUNICIPAL SEWER SYSTEM; AND, (2) RAISING SEWER CONNECTION FEES FROM \$700.00 TO \$1,500.00 IN A PERIOD OF SEVERAL MONTHS.

#### ARGUMENT

##### POINT I

SUMMARY JUDGMENT IS NOT APPROPRIATE IN THE INSTANT CIRCUMSTANCES.

Rule 56(c) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure provides as follows:

. . . the judgment sought shall be rendered forthwith if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.

The Summary Judgment should not be affirmed because significant issues of material fact exist and Respondent is not

entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Respondent, in making a Motion for Summary Judgment, has ignored these essential principles of summary judgment analysis under Utah law.

First, upon motion for summary judgment, the trial court is required to consider all relevant facts and their reasonable inferences in a light most favorable to the party against whom the motion is made. The Utah Supreme Court noted in Controlled Receivables, Inc. v. Harmon, 17 Utah 2d 420, 413 P.2d 807 (1966) as follows:

A motion for summary judgment is a harsh measure, and for this reason plaintiff's contentions must be considered in a light most to his advantage and all doubts resolved in favor of permitting him to go to trial; and only if when the whole matter is so viewed he could, nevertheless, establish no right to recovery, should the motion be granted.

Id., 413 P.2d at 809. For other numerous references made by the Court to this proposition, see Hughes v. Housley, 599 P.2d 1250 (Utah 1979); Livingston Industries, Inc. v. Walker Bank & Trust Co., 565 P.2d 117 (Utah 1977); Foster v. Steed, 19 Utah 2d 435, 432 P.2d 60 (1967).

Second, if the facts and their reasonable inferences when viewed in a light most favorable to the non-moving party are in dispute, summary judgment is simply improper. In Holbrook Co. v. Adams, 542 P.2d 191 (Utah 1975), the Utah Supreme Court stated:

It is not the purpose of the summary judgment procedure to judge the credibility of the averments of the parties or witnesses or the weight of the evidence. Neither is it to deny parties the right to a trial to resolve disputed issues of fact. Its purpose is to eliminate the time, trouble and expense of trial when upon any view taken of the facts as asserted by the party ruled against, he would not be entitled to prevail.

Id., at 193. See also Peterson v. Fowler, 29 Utah 2d 386, 510 P.2d 523 (1973); University Club v. Invesco Holding Corp., 29 Utah 2d 1, 504 P.2d 29 (1972); Transamerica Title Insurance Co. v. United Resources, Inc., 24 Utah 2d 346, 471 P.2d 165 (1970); and Robinson v. Employers Liability Assurance Corp., 22 Utah 2d 163, 450 P.2d 91 (1969).

Third, because an improperly granted summary judgment represents an extremely high cost in terms of time and resources to both the litigants and the courts of this state, summary judgment should not be granted in any but the most clear-cut cases. To this effect is the court's holding in Durham v. Margetts, 571 P.2d 1332 (1977):

The summary judgment procedure has the desirable and salutary purpose of eliminating the time, trouble, and expense of a trial when there are no issues of fact in dispute and the controversy can be resolved as a matter of law. Nevertheless, that should not be done on conjecture, but only when the matter is clear; and in case of doubt, the doubt should be resolved and allowing the challenged party the opportunity of at least attempting to prove his right of recovery.

Id., at 1334.

Appellant maintains that there are substantial and material issues of fact in dispute, and that the controversy therefore cannot be resolved against Appellant by Summary Judgment as a matter of law.

The Trial Court should have conducted a trial on the issues presented on appeal. Evidence should have been received regarding the reasonableness of Appellant's plan for financing construction of the City's sewer system and

for defraying the costs of constructing, operating and maintaining the system, in part, through the sale of sewer connection permits.

## POINT II

THE ESTABLISHMENT OF REASONABLE CONNECTION FEES AND PRE-SELLING A DETERMINED NUMBER OF CONNECTIONS WAS A VALID EXERCISE OF THE GENERAL POLICE POWERS BY APPELLANT.

Prior to the decision of the Utah Supreme Court in the case of State v. Hutchinson, No. 16,087, Utah had followed the so-called Dillon rule first enunciated in Merriam v. Moody's Executors, 25 Iowa 163 (1868). Essentially, the Dillon rule provided that local units of government had no powers or authority to act unless such action was taken pursuant to a specific grant of authority by the State Legislature.

In Hutchinson, supra, the defendant challenged the constitutionality of a county ordinance which required the filing of campaign statements and the disclosure of campaign contributions. The defendant challenged the ordinance on the basis that absent a specific grant of authority from the legislature, the county was powerless to enact this type of ordinance. The issue in the case was whether or not the general welfare grant found in Utah Code Annotated, Section 17-5-77, 1953 as amended, by itself provided a county with legal authority to enact this type of ordinance or whether there must be a specific grant of authority for counties to enact such measures. The Utah Supreme Court held that the rule requiring strict construction of powers delegated by the

legislature to counties and municipalities is a rule which is archaic, unrealistic and unresponsive to the current needs of both state and local governments and effectively nulifies the legislature's grant of general police power to the counties.

The campaign ordinances were held to be permissible under the general welfare provision above cited, as an independent source of power to act for the general welfare of county citizens. The opinion significantly broadened the authority of local governments to enact ordinances unique to local government. As the Supreme Court stated:

When the state has granted general welfare to local governments, these governments are independent authority apart from and in addition to specific grants of authority to pass ordinances which are reasonably and appropriately related to the objectives of that power . . . and the courts will not interfere with the legislative choice of the means selected unless it is arbitrary, or is directly prohibited by or is inconsistent with the policy of, the state or federal laws or the constitution of this state or of the United States.

The provisions of Utah Code Annotated, Section 17-5-77, 1953 as amended, relating to a general grant of powers to county commissioners, are virtually identical to the provisions of Utah Code Annotated, Section 10-8-84, 1953 as amended, which is a general grant of authority to municipalities in the State of Utah.

Section 10-8-84, Utah Code Annotated, 1953 as amended, was cited by the Utah State Supreme Court in the case of John Call and Clark Jenkins v. City of West Jordan, No. 15,908, filed

December 26, 1979, a case involving a suit by several subdividers against the City of West Jordan challenging imposition of a so-called impact fee. The court, in determining that the city, in fact, had authority to impose that type of fee, even though there exists no state statute specifically granting cities that authority, cited with approval, Section 10-8-84, UCA.

McQuillin, Municipal Corporations, 3rd Edition Revised, Volume 11, Section 31-10, states as follows:

The establishment and maintenance of a sewer system by a municipality is usually regarded as an exercise of its police power and so is an ordinance requiring property owners to make connections therewith. All persons hold their property subject to the law providing for the public health and general welfare and when sewers are necessary for the preservation of the public health, property must bear its just proportion of the cost of construction and maintenance of them.

McQuillin, in Section 31-30 also states:

Power to regulate and control sewers and drains carries with it as a necessary incident authority to compel, regulate and control all dispensible, desirable or convenient connections subject, of course, to the observance of private property rights, accordingly, express power to 'construct, establish and maintain drains and sewers' includes power to make reasonable regulations for tapping and connecting with the sewers. Municipalities are generally authorized to compel property owners to make connection with the sewer within a reasonable distance when the public health requires it, and to pay the cost and expenses involved, all of which may be provided for by statute or ordinance, in the exercise of the police power.

Section 10-8-38, Utah Code Annotated, 1953 as amended, does provide that any city or town may, for the purpose of defraying the construction, reconstruction, maintenance, or operation of any sewer system or sewer treatment plant, provide for mandatory hookup where the sewer is available and within



300 feet of any property line with any building used for human occupancy and make a reasonable charge for the use thereof. Applying the Hutchinson decision, it would certainly be within the Respondent's power to sell sewer connections to finance construction of a badly needed sewer system and to charge a reasonable amount for such connections. Section 10-8-38, UCA, 1953 as amended, is a grant of authority but is not a specific limitation upon the exercise of authority by municipalites.

In the case of Rupp v. Grantsville (Utah 1980) 610 P.2d 338, this Court upheld the mandatory sewer connection ordinance of the municipality of Grantsville. The opinion contains the following language:

In Utah, municipalities are granted broad powers for the protection of the health and welfare of their residents. Among these powers is the statutory authority to establish and maintain public utilities for the benefit of those residents. Inherent in the power to preserve and protect the health and welfare of municipal residents is the authority to adopt ordinances directed at the effectuation of that protection. This general grant of police power is codified in 70-8-84 which provides:

'They [municipalites] may pass all ordinances and rules and make all regulations not repugnant to law, necessary for carrying into effect or discharging all powers and duties conferred by this chapter, and such as are necessary and proper to provide for the safety and preserve the health and promote the prosperity . . . comfort and convenience of the city and inhabitants thereof, and for the protection of property herein; . . .'

The scope of police power conferred on municipal governments by the requirements incident to effective protection of the health and welfare of their citizenry are reflected in statutes such as 70-8-84. The relationship between a mandatory connection ordinance and this police power was recognized in Bigler v. Greenwood. In Bigler, this Court in upholding the mandatory connection ordinance

'Such an ordinance is undeniably proposed to protect the health and welfare and is therefor a valid exercise of authority expressly conferred under the police power.'

There is nothing in the present situation which requires a retreat from that position. The Grantsville ordinance in question is a valid exercise of the municipalities recognized police power and therefore is enforceable against the plaintiffs.

It is clear that under the rationale of Hutchinson, Call, and Rupp, supra, that Appellant has the authority to enact and enforce a reasonable plan to finance construction of a sewer system. The Trial Court erred in granting Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment, and in failing to receive evidence with respect to the reasonableness of the ordinance.

Appellant contends that no state statute purports to limit a municipality from taking reasonable and proper steps to finance construction of a sewer system. Municipalities must of necessity be allowed to exercise municipal powers in a flexible and effective manner to appropriately deal with varying circumstances. Appellant must have the inherent power to establish and carry out reasonable plans for financing construction of its sewer system.

#### CONCLUSION