1982

Wayne M. Patterson v. Alpine City : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

This case concerns the validity of certain Alpine City sewer connection fees and permits.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The District Court below entered a Partial Summary Judgment on May 29, 1981 holding that the Alpine City sewer connection fee of ONE THOUSAND FIVE HUNDRED DOLLARS (\$1,500.00) had not been legally established by written resolution or ordinance and that the scheme used by Alpine City to sell sewer connection permits was outside the city's statutory authority. After receiving the Partial Summary Judgment, the parties

entered into a Stipulation dismissing the remaining claims involved in this case and Appellant thereafter filed its appeal.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Respondent respectfully asks this Court to affirm in all respects the Partial Summary Judgment granted to Respondent by the Court below.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In 1978, Appellant Alpine City enacted Ordinance No. 78-07(7) which provided that a fee for connection to the city sewer system could be fixed from time to time by resolution enacted by the city council. Subsequently, without written ordinance or resolution (R. 30), the city began to assess sewer connection fees. The scheme established by the city was to begin charging \$700.00 for a connection permit, then raise the charge to \$1,000.00 and then raise the charge to \$1,500.00, all within a three month period. This scheme was made public to the residents of Alpine City. Further, each resident had the opportunity to purchase as many permits as he desired at the \$700.00 price and then later resell them for a profit to those who needed or sought permits after the price had been raised. The result was that many of the Alpine City residents purchased sewer connection permits without any intent to use them, but

with the sole intent of subsequently reselling them to new residents and builders for a profit.

In December, 1979, Respondent sought to construct a home within Alpine City and was therefore required to obtain a sewer connection permit. On December 14, 1979, Respondent purchased a sewer connection permit for \$1,500.00. The purchase was made by check and under protest.

On March 7, 1980, Respondent commenced this action against Appellant seeking a return of the \$1,500.00 paid and also a ruling (1) that the sewer connection fee was void and unenforceable and (2) that Alpine City be permanently enjoined from assessing the fee.

On May 29, 1981, the court below entered a Partial Summary Judgment in favor of the Respondent adjudging as follows:

1. The sewer connection fee of ONE THOUSAND FIVE HUNDRED DOLLARS (\$1,500.00) was illegally assessed against the Plaintiff for the reason that the sewer connection fee was not established by written resolution or oral (sic) ordinance as required by law.

2. The scheme used by the Defendant Alpine City to sell sewer connection permits is outside the city's statutory (sic) authority in the following respects. First, the sewer connection permits were sold in bulk to investors who had no desire to use the permits, but only sought them for later resale to new connectors. Second, the city scheduled and published a graduation in the sewer connection fee from SEVEN HUNDRED

DOLLARS (\$700.00) to ONE THOUSAND FIVE HUNDRED DOLLARS (\$1,500.00) over a period of several months in order to induce early investment in the permits. Because said scheme is outside the statutory (sic) authority of the city, the issuance of sewer connection permits under said plan was unlawful and the sewer connection permits are null and void.

3. Plaintiff is not entitled, at this point, as a matter of law to a refund of the full ONE THOUSAND FIVE HUNDRED DOLLAR (\$1,500.00) connection fee. The case shall go to trial to determine whether or not the Defendant is entitled to retain all or a part of the connection fee upon the basis of quantum meruit or other equitable considerations.

Pursuant to stipulation of the parties, the court below, on October 1, 1981, entered an Order that;

. . . the portion of the Complaint praying for restitution to the plaintiff of \$1,500.00 from Alpine City be and the same is hereby dismissed. It is further ordered and adjudged that plaintiff shall retain the sewer connection permit received from Alpine City and that Alpine City in this matter shall retain the fee paid for said sewer connection of \$1,500.00.

Appellant Alpine City thereafter filed an appeal of the Partial Summary Judgment entered by the Court on May 29, 1981.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

SUMMARY JUDGMENT IS APPROPRIATE IN THE INSTANT CASE

It is clear that under Rule 56(c) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure summary judgment may be rendered forthwith when appropriate. As stated:

. . . the judgment sought shall be rendered forthwith if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.

Appellant asserts that there are substantial and material issues of fact making summary judgment inappropriate in the instant case. Specifically, Appellant asserts that "evidence should have been received regarding the reasonableness of Appellant's plan for financing construction of the city sewer system and for defraying the costs of constructing, operating, and maintaining the system, in part, through the sale of sewer connection permits."

The Partial Summary Judgment entered by the trial court struck down the Appellant's sewer connection fee on two grounds. First, it was not established by written resolution or ordinance as required by law. Second, the court determined that

the scheme used by the Appellant was outside of the Appellant's statutory authority. The factual issue asserted by the Appellant is simply not material to either of the grounds upon which the Court struck down the sewer connection fee. Accordingly, the entry of summary judgment by the Court below was proper.

POINT II

ALPINE CITY WAS WITHOUT AUTHORITY TO ASSESS THE SEWER CONNECTION FEE AGAINST THE RESPONDENT INASMUCH AS SAID FEE WAS NEVER ESTABLISHED BY WRITTEN RESOLUTION.

Section 10-8-38 of the Utah Code Annotated states that a city may provide for mandatory hook-up with the city sewer system and may "make a reasonable charge for the use thereof." Section 10-3-717 of the Utah Code Annotated, as amended, states that the city's power to establish sewer rates may be exercised by resolution. Section 10-3-506 of the Utah Code Annotated, as amended, provides that all resolutions passed by a city shall be in written form before a vote is taken thereon.

Alpine City has admitted, in response to Respondent's Request for Production, that at the time Respondent paid his sewer connection fee Alpine City "had not by resolution or ordinance in writing established a sewer connection fee for connection to the Alpine sewer system." (R. 30) Inasmuch as the

sewer connection fee charged to Respondent was not established by resolution in writing, it is in violation of the above statutes and is void and unenforceable.

POINT III

ALPINE CITY HAS NOT ACTED WITHIN THE STATUTORY AUTHORITY GIVEN IT TO ASSESS SEWER CONNECTION FEES.

Traditionally, Courts have strictly construed all delegations of power from states to local governments. This rule of strict construction is known as the Dillon Rule. A local government had no authority to act in any area unless it was specifically and explicitly given authority by the state legislature.

In recent years most states (including Utah) have relaxed this rule of strict construction. See cases cited by Appellant, State v. Hutchinson, No. 16087, (S. Ct. Utah, filed Dec. 9, 1980); John Call and Clark Jenkins v. City of West Jordan, No. 15908 (S. Ct. Utah, filed Dec. 26, 1979); and Rupp v. Grantsville, 610 P.2d 338 (Utah 1980). Local units of government are no longer governed by the Dillon Rule and may enact ordinances under general welfare grants such as that contained in the Utah Code Annotated, Section 10-8-84, 1953, as amended.

However, in rejecting the rule of strict construction, the Utah Supreme Court did recognize that there are still limitations on the authority of local governments acting under broad welfare clauses. In Hutchinson, supra, the Court stated:

. . . local governments are without authority to pass any ordinance prohibited by, or in conflict with, state statutory law. Salt Lake City vs. Allred, 20 Utah 2d 298, 437 P.2d 434 (1968). Also an ordinance is invalid if it intrudes upon an area which the legislature has pre-empted by comprehensive legislation intended to blanket a particular field.

Hutchinson, supra, pg. 90. In 1981 the Utah Supreme Court in Redwood Gym vs. Salt Lake County Commission, No. 16833 (Utah 1981) again declared, "This Court has previously ruled that local governments may legislate by ordinance in areas previously dealt with by state legislation, provided the ordinance in no way conflicts with existing state law. . .", Id., at 1144. See also Salt Lake City vs. Howe, 106 P. 705 (Utah 1910); and Salt Lake City vs. Kusse, 93 P.2d 671 (Utah 1938).

As a further limitation the Court in Hutchinson stated that "specific grants of authority may serve to limit the means available under the general welfare clause, for some limitation may be imposed on the exercise of power by directing the use of power in a particular manner." Hutchinson, supra, at 95. Thus, local governments can rely on broad general welfare clauses for authority to enact ordinances not specifically authorized by the

legislature. But the broad exercise of authority is limited in the following specific instances:

1. When the ordinance is prohibited by state statute.
2. When the ordinance is in conflict with state statute.
3. Where a state statute directs the use of a power in a particular manner.
4. Where the ordinance involves an area which has been pre-empted by comprehensive state legislation.

These four limitations stress that a general statutory grant of authority to municipalities is not without reservations. Local municipal ordinances enacted under broad general welfare clauses are subject to specific grants of authority in other state statutes. Appellant does not acknowledge these limitations, but they apply nonetheless. For example, Appellant quotes McQuillin on Municipal Corporations, 3rd Edition Revised, Volume 11, as unrestricted support for the idea that a municipality has an inherent right under its police power to establish and maintain a sewer system. Appellant then argues that under this power the municipality is authorized to pre-sell a determined number of sewer connection permits to anyone including those interested only in reselling the permits

for a profit. That this police power is subject to restriction is, however, also stated by McQuillin as follows:

. . . the operation of a sewer system has been said to be a matter of state-wide concern and, where the state legislature has entered the field, any attempt of a city to deal therewith except in strict accordance with the statutes covering the subject would be without force and effect. (Emphasis added)

McQuillin, supra, at Sec. 31-10a. Specific statutory legislation may therefore be determinative in judging how far the local police power extends.

Section 10-8-38 of the Utah Code Annotated provides the statutory authority for a city to assess a sewer connection fee and is specific statutory legislation dealing therewith. See Homebuilders Association of Greater Salt Lake vs. Provo City, 503 P.2d 451, 452 (Utah, 1972). The relevant provisions of Section 10-8-38 provide that "any city or town may, for the purpose of defraying the cost of construction, reconstruction, maintenance or operation of any sewer system or sewage treatment plant, provide for mandatory hookup. . . and make a reasonable charge for the use thereof." A sewer connection fee is a charge for a service rendered. Homebuilders Association of Greater Salt Lake, supra.

The scheme adopted by Alpine City to implement its sewer connection fee includes aspects that are not authorized by

Section 10-8-38 or any other section of the Utah Code. Section 10-8-38 gives a city authority to make a "reasonable charge" for connection to the city sewer system. It does not authorize a city to "sell" connection permits on an open market for profit. Alpine City has allowed purchase of a permit by any resident without regard to whether they intended to build and actually connect to the city sewer system. Each resident was allowed to purchase as many permits as he desired and resell them to anybody. By raising the sewer connection fee from \$700.00 to \$1,500.00 in less than three months, the city intentionally created a market which would induce residents to invest in permits early.

These intentions by Alpine City clearly distort the purpose and policy of Section 10-8-38. The city is using the state statute as a shield behind which to engage in an investment scheme, and not for the purpose of making "reasonable charges" to residents wishing to hook up to the city sewer line. The state legislature did not intend and the language of Section 10-8-38 does not provide that the authorization granted to cities to charge reasonable hook-up fees be misused in this manner.

The city is therefore acting outside of its authority. In particular, the Utah Legislature did not authorize the cities